# Spin and orbital spectroscopy in the absence of Coulomb blockade in lead telluride nanowire quantum dots

Maksim Gomanko<sup>1</sup>, Eline J. de Jong<sup>2</sup>, Yifan Jiang<sup>1</sup>, Sander G. Schellingerhout<sup>2</sup>, Erik P. A. M. Bakkers<sup>2</sup> and Sergey M. Frolov<sup>1\*</sup>

Department of Physics and Astronomy, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA 15260, USA
 Eindhoven University of Technology, 5600 MB, Eindhoven, The Netherlands

\* frolovsm@pitt.edu

## Abstract

We investigate quantum dots in semiconductor PbTe nanowire devices. Due to the accessibility of ambipolar transport in PbTe, quantum dots can be occupied both with electrons and holes. Owing to a very large dielectric constant in PbTe of order 1000, we do not observe Coulomb blockade which typically obfuscates the orbital and spin spectra. We extract large and highly anisotropic effective Landé g-factors, in the range 20-44. The absence of Coulomb blockade allows direct readout, at zero source-drain bias, of spin-orbit hybridization energies of up to 600  $\mu$ eV. These spin properties make PbTe nanowires, the recently synthesized members of group IV-VI materials family, attractive as a materials platform for quantum technology, such as spin and topological qubits.

Copyright M. Gomanko *et al*. This work is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License. Published by the SciPost Foundation.

Received 10-12-2021	Check for updates
Accepted 11-08-2022	
Published 10-10-2022	
doi:10.21468/SciPostPhys.13.	4.089

## Contents

1	Introduction	2
2	Brief methods	3
3	Figures	3
	3.1 Figure 1: Device description	3
	3.2 Figure 2: Electron quantum dot	4
	3.3 Figure 3: Magnetic field spectroscopy	5
	3.4 Figure 4: Effective Landé g-factor anisotropy	6
	3.5 Figure 5: Hole quantum dot	7
4	Future work	8
5	Duration and Volume of Study	9
6	Data and Code availability	9
A	Supplementary Information	9
Re	eferences	16

## 1 Introduction

Quantum computing relies on two-level systems (qubits) and state entanglement as leverage to attain computational power exceeding that of classical computers for certain classes of problems. Several qubit hardware realizations are being pursued at the moment, ranging from photons and trapped ions to nonlinear resonators, single charges and spins [1]. Single spins in low dimensional structures are natural candidates for qubits, and were one of the first platforms proposed [2]. Semiconductor quantum dots were used to perform single-shot spin state readout [3], coherent spin manipulation [4], and all-electrical spin control [5]. Spin qubits still have untapped potential due to their long spin coherence times, scalability and pathways for interfacing with conventional electronics via similar fabrication techniques, and relatively high operating temperatures [6].

Initial single spin experiments relied on heterostructures of group III-V semiconductors such as GaAs quantum wells [4], InAs and InSb nanowires [7–9]. More recently group IV semiconductors took center stage, in part due to reduced hyperfine interaction and longer potential coherence times [1]. Among realizations are Si/SiGe heterostructures [10], single atom donors in Si [11], Ge/Si core/shell nanowires [12], Ge quantum wells [13]. Another group IV family member, carbon, has been used in the nanotube form for valley-spin qubits [14].

PbTe and related materials were studied for applications such as infrared detectors and thermoelectrics [16] [17] [18]. They are characterized by the rocksalt crystal structure, low effective mass of  $0.08m_e$ , very large dielectric constant exceeding 1000 at low temperatures, small bandgap of 0.19 eV at 4.2K. Quantum wells of group IV-VI materials including PbTe exhibit quantum Hall effect and quantum point contact behavior [19–23]. Previous efforts to grow PbTe nanowires focused on chemical growth methods, such as chemical vapor deposition [16, 24] and hydrothermal synthesis [25, 26]. MBE growth has been reported [27] in Vapor-Liquid-Solid mode, though the nanowires were limited in length. A related material SnTe is a topological crystalline insulator [28], and has been explored in the nanowire form [29–32].

PbTe is composed of heavier elements, and is expected to have strong spin-orbit interaction [33], allowing electrical control of charge carrier spins, as well as large g-factors enabling low magnetic field operation of spin-orbit qubits [7]. The conduction band of PbTe is dominated by p-orbitals which has been associated with reduced hyperfine interaction [34]. In contrast with group III-V materials, where hyperfine coupling is the main decoherence mechanism for spin qubits, both Pb and Te have isotopes with zero nuclear spin, which can be leveraged through isotopic purification. Very large dielectric constants in PbTe suggest low charging energy of quantum dots, and screening of charge noise. Many of the these properties also make PbTe an interesting platform for the realization of Majorana zero modes, provided that superconducting proximity effect can be demonstrated [35].

We fabricate PbTe nanowire devices with electrical contacts in the  $10k\Omega$  range, as well as top and back gate electrodes. Quantum dots can be defined on both the electron and the hole side of the tunneling regime. Quantum dots exhibit no detectable charging energy. Coulomb blockade is absent due to a very large dielectric constant in PbTe. We extract g-factors as high as 44 with the anisotropy of order 2. We observe spin-orbit anticrossings between states of opposite spin belonging to different orbitals. The range of antricrossing values is from 10's to 100's of  $\mu$ eV indicative of sizeable spin-orbit coupling.

*Impact*. PbTe nanowires have recently been synthesized with low defect density and large aspect ratios, making them suitable for gate-defined quantum dot devices [36]. Absence of Coulomb blockade opens doors for the exploration of new regimes of spin manipulation and dynamics. This has enabled the investigation of spin, orbital and spin-orbit properties of electrons, as well as holes in this materials system. The IV-VI family features an impressive variety

of materials, from semiconductors and semimetals to topological crystalline insulators, and has significant potential for further exploration as a platform for quantum devices, such as spin and topological qubits.

## 2 Brief methods

PbTe nanowires are grown using molecular beam epitaxy (MBE) on GaAs[111] substrate in [100] axis orientation using Au catalyst [36]. Typical sizes are  $1-1.5 \mu m$  in length and 70-125 nm in width. We position the nanowires on doped silicon substrates with a 285 nm layer of thermal oxide. The substrate is used as a back gate. Metallic Ti/Au contacts (10/130 nm) are fabricated on top of the wire after argon sputter cleaning. Subsequently, the device is covered with a 10 nm HfO<sub>x</sub> layer by atomic layer deposition, and a top gate electrode (Ti/Au, 10/140 nm) is fabricated.

A standard low-frequency lock-in technique is used to acquire data. Measurements are performed in several dilution refrigerator setups, with base temperature of 50 - 100 mK. Multiple devices were fabricated, varying in length and width (supplementary figure S1, panels (a), (c) and (d) have SEM pictures taken before covering the nanowire with a topgate). The major difference is that devices 5-8 did not had a topgate, only backgate separated by a wider dielectric layer. Device 1 is measured in a solenoid magnet with a fixed field orientation at 25 degrees to the nanowire axis. Device 2 is measured in a setup equipped with a 2D vector magnet with a 4T vector field that rotates in the substrate plane.

## 3 Figures



## 3.1 Figure 1: Device description

Figure 1: **a** Model of a topgate device. Contacts are colored with gold, top gate is represented by transparent blue. **b** SEM image of typical device (device 9). The orientation of magnetic field B corresponds to device 1 studied in Figs. 2 and 3.

Fig. 1 shows an example of a PbTe nanowire device. The spacing between the source and the drain is nominally 400 nm. PbTe nanowires have square cross-sections, in contrast with InAs and InSb nanowires which have hexagonal cross-sections. The nanowire width is in the range 70-125 nm. The top gate has a stronger effect due to it being closer to the nanowire and covering the nanowire on 3 sides. In fact the back gate alone is unable to pinch-off current in these devices (Supplementary figs. S10 and S10). Quantum dots are created between the

Sci Post

contacts, though their actual extent along the nanowire can be shorter.



## **3.2** Figure 2: Electron quantum dot

Figure 2: Differential conductance of device 1 as a function of  $V_{bias}$  and  $V_{tg}$  at different magnetic fields for  $V_{bg} = -15$ V. **a** B = 0T; **b** B = 0.34T; **c** B = 2.6T; **d** B = 4.0T.

Figure 2 presents a study of an electron quantum dot. At zero magnetic field, we observe a grid of sharp intersecting conductance resonances (Fig. 2(a)). The pattern at first glance appears to be that of Coulomb blockade diamonds typical of quantum dots. However, upon closer inspection the data possess several unusual features.

First, there appear to be no excited states of the same total charge. These would be lines that run diagonally outside the central diamonds, and terminate at the edges of the diamonds. Coulomb blockade prevents the population of excited states of the same charge number - transport is blocked by an electron that is already present in the lowest energy state [37].

Second, at finite magnetic field each of the zero-field resonances splits (Figs. 2(b-d)). The splitting is apparent at B=0.34 T (panel b), while at a higher B=2.6 T we see a pattern of large/small diamonds around zero bias. At the highest field studied, B = 4 T, it becomes harder to track individual resonances but their density is doubled. The observation of resonance splitting in magnetic field is in contradiction with Coulomb blockade, which already lifts spin degeneracy at zero field.

Given the known large dielectric constant of PbTe we conclude that charging energy, and Coulomb blockade, are not observed in our devices. Related phenomena were reported in

### Sci Post

LAO/STO quantum dots in the presence of superconductivity [38].

The apparent lack of resonances terminated at diamond edges becomes clear: in fact, all orbital and spin states are directly observed because they are not darkened by Coulomb blockade. They originate from consecutive orbital states at zero field, and spin-resolved states at finite field.

We note that at a given gate voltage, higher bias resonances do correspond to excited state transport when multiple electrons are allowed to travel through the dot simultaneously. This effect is the same with or without Coulomb blockade.

Since charging energy is negligible, from the height of central diamonds we can directly read off the orbital energies which are approximately 3 meV for the lowest few observable orbital states. While we cannot verify that the state at the most negative gate voltage corresponds to the first electron, we argue that the number of electrons in the quantum dot is a few, from the typical orbital energy and the gate voltage distance to the hole quantum dot on the valence band side (see Fig. 5).

At more positive gate voltages the resonances broaden gradually forming an open regime similar to Fabry-Perot and universal conductance fluctuation regimes (Figs. S10 and S10). The unusual aspect is that upon closing down the barriers no Coulomb blockade emerges, the resonances simply sharpen into grid of intersecting diagonals (Fig. 2).



#### 3.3 Figure 3: Magnetic field spectroscopy

Figure 3: Differential conductance of device 1 as a function of topgate voltage and magnetic field. Arrows represent spin up and spin down states. Dashed curves illustrate an anticrossing of opposite-spin states. Magnetic field is applied at an angle of 25 degrees with respect to the nanowire axis, in the substrate plane.

Spin-resolved spectrum of the electron quantum dot in device 1 is presented in Fig. 3. The orbital states, which are visible as single resonances at zero magnetic field, undergo a splitting in finite magnetic field. Each orbital is doubly-degenerate due to spin, and no other degeneracies are detected. This is consistent with a lack of symmetry in the dot shape.

From the movement of the resonances in magnetic field, and the gate-bias lever arm extracted from data in Fig. 2, we can calculate the g-factors for three lowest visible orbitals to be 28, 27, 29 (starting at the bottom).

Whenever resonances of opposite spin belonging to different orbitals come close, we observe level repulsion, which is the effect of spin-orbit coupling. The largest observed anticrossing is of the magnitude 575  $\mu$ eV. Larger anticrossings tend to appear at higher magnetic fields which is consistent with spin-orbit induced hybridization getting enhanced by external field [39]. The ratios of spin-orbit to orbital energy vary between 0.28 and 0.10. This ratio approximately corresponds to the ratio between the quantum dot size and the spin-orbit length. Given the uncertainty in determining the quantum dot size, which can be a fraction of the contact spacing, we can only provide an upper bound estimate on the spin-orbit energy, though the effect is evident and strong.

We assume the effective mass  $0.03m_e$  at low temperatures [40]. We take the orbital energy  $E_{orb} = 2.7meV$  from Fig. 2. We estimate the size of the quantum dot from particle-in-a-box formula to be 80 nm, which is less than the contact spacing (350nm) and of the order of nanowire width (100nm). However, these numbers come with assumption of an isotropic box confinement, which is not the case for PbTe, and parabolic band structure, so a better theoretical evaluation is necessary. We obtain an estimate range for spin-orbit length of 300-900nm for different anticrossings.

While the conduction band of PbTe is known to have four-fold valley degeneracy [19], no degeneracies other than spin degeneracy manifest themselves in these quantum dots. Two possibilities exist. Either the valley degeneracy has been lifted, due to effects such as strain and strongly asymmetric quantum confinement. Alternatively, the valley degeneracy remains and is unperturbed by magnetic field, meaning that electrons in all valleys have exactly the same g-factors - and all observed resonances are in fact four-fold degenerate at finite field. The suppression of Coulomb blockade makes it difficult to distinguish between these possibilities.

Figure 3 also reveals faint resonances at more positive gate settings. Those resonances do exhibit Zeeman splitting, but they do not exhibit spin-orbit antricrossings with the bright resonances. We argue that those originate from another quantum dot given that their coupling to the leads is different and compounded by the fact that the dot is defined by a single wide gate - allowing for the possibility of other uncontrolled dots.

### 3.4 Figure 4: Effective Landé g-factor anisotropy



Figure 4: Effective Landé g-factor dependence on field angle for device 2. Graphics illustrate relative orientation of nanowire and magnetic field. Solid line is a sinusoidal fit with an offset of 29.8 and an amplitude of 6.7. Values extracted for state A in Fig.S6

We use device 2 to study the anisotropy of effective g-factors in a vector magnet setup. We fix magnetic field at the amplitude of 1T and rotate the field angle in the substrate plane. We extract g-factors from the height of the diamonds that emerge at finite field in between spin-up and spin-down states for each orbital, or from gate voltage shifts in peak positions at zero voltage bias. See supplementary information for details of data processing and for additional data.

In Fig. 4 we present the anisotropic g-factors for an orbital labeled A (Figs. S4-S6). The g-factor is lowest around zero angle, or along the nanowire, where it reaches the values of 22-24. The g-factor is largest when the field is perpendicular to the nanowire where it reaches 37.

From the g-factor anisotropy the shape of the quantum dot can be guessed. Enhanced g-factors originate from the coupling between spin and orbital states and are known to be reduced by quantum confinement that suppresses the orbital degrees of freedom [41]. The lower g-factors correspond to larger confinement in a direction perpendicular to the applied field. Based on these considerations, the dot is elongated along the nanowire which is in qualitative agreement with contact spacing being larger than the nanowire width.

The Fermi surface in PbTe is known to be anistoropic and this anisotropy can be contributing to the g-factor anisotropy as well as to other properties such as quantum dot level energies [42]. However, measurements done so far do not allow us to identify a contribution to the observed anisotropies or energies due to the crystal structure.

#### 3.5 Figure 5: Hole quantum dot

In Fig. 5 that is also based on device 2 we present evidence of quantum states confined in the valence band. Hole quantum dots are a promising platform for quantum computing [13]. A handful of materials, such as carbon nanotubes and indium antimonide nanowires, make it possible to study hole and electron dots in the same sample, allowing to compare the orbital, spin and spin-orbital energies in different bands [14, 43].

In Fig. 5(a) we observe the transition from electron transport, across the bandgap, to hole transport which is characterized by significantly lower conductance. This is an interesting observation because the effective masses of electrons and holes in bulk PbTe are the same, thus similar mobility is expected. The discrepancy may come from differences in contact resistance due to different band character, or due to uncontrolled p-n junctions in the nanowire. Similar behavior has been observed in InSb nanowires [43]. Further investigation of this question will be required in locally gated devices and with the assistance of first principles theory.

Transport on the hole side is also dominated by resonances that criss-cross the gate-vs-bias diagram (Fig. 5(b)). Due to the lower currents the resonances are not seen in the same detail as on the electron side. However, they also do not exhibit Coulomb blockade. From the slopes and gate intervals separating the resonances, we estimate orbital energies in the range 2-4.5 meV. See supplementary information for additional valence band data on this and another device.

In a magnetic field we observe resonances splitting in a manner that is generally similar to how electron orbital states split. From various measurements we extract g-factors in the range 17-56 for apparent hole states. We do not observe spin-orbit level repulsion in these data but due to low currents we cannot conclude that spin-orbit effects are not present.



Figure 5: **a and b** Differential conductance for device 2. **c** Magnetic field vs topgate on the hole side. Magnetic field is at 45 degrees with respect to the nanowire.

## 4 Future work

In future experiments, multiple local gates can be used to define quantum dots of fixed length and provide an accurate estimate of spin-orbit interaction strength, to establish the double quantum dots and the few-electron/hole regime. This will also provide better control of dot barriers and thus higher resolution spectroscopy on the valence band side.

PbTe quantum dots free of charging energy have potential to become a promising platform for spin qubits. It would be interesting to explore whether large dielectric translates into longer spin coherence times. Another future question is whether Pauli spin blockade, an established spin qubit initialization and readout mechanism, can be observed in the absence of Coulomb blockade. Large anisotropic g-factors and strong spin-orbit interaction are promising for electric field control of spin states and for the operation of spin-orbit qubits.

Integration with superconductors, such as native and lattice-matched Pb, can make possible the integration of PbTe wires into superconducting qubits [44], as well as their exploration as a platform for Majorana zero modes [35].

# 5 Duration and Volume of Study

Experiments in this paper were done over a 1.5 year timeframe, including a lab shutdown due to the pandemic. A total of 20 chips with an average of 7 devices per chip were fabricated, with 50% not resulting in any data due to fabrication issues, contact barriers, gate leaks or inability to pinch them off. In this paper we use 900 datasets from 4 different chips, one of them with devices lacking a topgate. Quantum dot features were observed in 5 devices, clearest 3 of which were studied thoroughly and presented in this paper. The first chip contains devices 1 (Figs. 2,3), 3 (Fig. 5) and 4. The second chip contains device 2 (Figs. 4, 5). The third chip, without a topgate, has 4 devices (5,6,7,8) used in Figs. S9 and S10. Finally, the fourth chip was used for the SEM picture in Fig. 1. The numbering of chips is not chronological.

# 6 Data and Code availability

All of the data from devices used in this paper along with experimental logs, relevant notebooks and overview summaries is available on Zenodo (DOI 10.5281/zenodo.5531917). The repository also includes Python notebooks used for data analysis, e.g. to extract the g-factors from the data.

# A Supplementary Information



Figure S1: Scanning electron microscope images of all devices used in this paper. (a) device 1, used in Figs. 2 and 3 before fabrication of the topgate, (b) device 2, liftoff issues with topgate made nanowire hard to see, (c) device 3 before fabrication of the topgate, (d) device 4, (e)-(h) backgate chip, devices 5-8; (i) device 9, used for Fig. 1



Figure S2: Bipolar transport in device 3. Global backgate voltage = -30V, B = 0T,  $V_{bias} = 10$ mV. An offset of 0.2 nA was added for log-scale plotting. Three different colors represent 3 different datasets, taken one after another. Red colors were taken with increase in topgate voltage, while green color line represents decreasing voltage. Gate hysteresis is typical for large-range gate sweeps.



Figure S3: Additional data for Figure 2 from device 1. Global backgate voltage = -15V. (a) 0T, (b) 0.34T (c) 1T (d) 2.2T (e)2.6T (f)4.0T. Magnetic field is pointing at a 25 degree angle relative to the nanowire axis.



Figure S4: Two methods for calculating effective g-factors: **a** directly extracting Zeeman energy at B=1T the height of diamonds A and B in Fig. S5; **b** From data in Fig. S5 using the lever arm between gate voltage and bias voltage from Fig. S5. Data for state A are used in Fig. 4. States A and B are labeled in Figs. S4 and S5 and correspond to adjacent orbitals of the same quantum dot. The two methods yield qualitatively the same results but disagree quantitatively largely due to charge instabilities seen in Fig. S5.



Figure S5: Measurements of current as function of  $V_{bias}$  and  $V_{tg}$  for device 2. Different panels correspond to different magnetic field orientations indicated above each panel with respect to the nanowire axis. The magnetic field amplitude is 1 Tesla. States A and B are labeled. Global backgate voltage is zero.



Figure S6: Device 2. Two lowest resolved electron QD states A and B as a function of topgate and magnetic field angle. State A is on the bottom, state B is on top of the figure. B=1T,  $V_{bias} = 0.1mV$ , global backgate voltage is zero.



Figure S7: Hole states in device 3. (a) and (b) absolute value of current and differential conductance of the hole quantum dot, both panels are derived from the same dataset. B = 0. (c) Magnetic field evolution at  $V_{bias}$ =0.1mV Global backgate voltage is zero.



Figure S8: Hole quantum dot in device 2. Different state of the device can be explained by charge jumps occuring after Fig.5 was measured. (a) Current through the nanowire on the valence band side. It is possible that states at  $V_{tg}$ =-12 mV and 3 mV originate from another quantum dot that has smaller coupling to contact leads. (b) Magnetic field sweep at  $V_{bias}$ =0.1mV with field parallel to nanowire axis and (c) with field perpendicular to the nanowire axis. The two states mentioned above show stronger Zeeman splitting than other states in the picture that is comparable to the Zeeman splitting for the states on the conduction band side. We therefore hypothesize that these two states are from a different quantum dot, which may contain electrons rather than holes.



Figure S9: Data from four devices fabricated without a top gate, and only tunable by a back gate. In these devices it was not possible to reach the pinched-off regime with the chemical potential in the bandgap, all data are on the electron side. **a** is from device 5, **b** is from device 6, **c** is from device 7, **d** is from device 8. In the open regime we see a picture similar to quantum dot behavior in topgate devices, but with broadened resonances. They can be interpreted as Fabry-Perot modes in the nanowire, but evolve continuously into single orbital quantum levels such as in Fig. 2 when the gate potentials are decreased, and the resonances sharpen. B = 0T. Conductance is calculated by numerically diffentiating DC current evolution in bias voltage.

# Sci Post



Figure S10: Magnetic field evolution of conductance in devices without a top gate shown in Fig. S9. (**a** is from device 5, **b** is from device 6, **c** is from device 7, **d** is from device 8.  $V_{bias}$ =1mV, magnetic field direction varies for every device. It is applied horizontally with respect to images in Fig. S1, resulting in (a) 14, (b) 63, (c) 86, (d) 58 degree angle. G-factor in **d** (device8) for state at  $V_{bg}$ =-5V is estimated to be 11 after converting backgate voltage to bias using lever arm from data in Fig. S10 **d**.

## References

- [1] N. P. de Leon, K. M. Itoh, D. Kim, K. K. Mehta, T. E. Northup, H. Paik, B. Palmer, N. Samarth, S. Sangtawesin and D. Steuerman, *Materials challenges and opportunities for quantum computing hardware*, Science **372** (2021), doi:10.1126/science.abb282.
- [2] D. Loss and D. P. DiVincenzo, *Quantum computation with quantum dots*, Phys. Rev. A 57, 120 (1998), doi:10.1103/PhysRevA.57.120.
- [3] J. M. Elzerman, R. Hanson, L. H. Willems van Beveren, B. Witkamp, L. M. K. Vandersypen and L. P. Kouwenhoven, *Single-shot read-out of an individual electron spin in a quantum dot*, Nature **430**, 431 (2004), doi:10.1038/nature02693.
- [4] J. R. Petta, A. C. Johnson, J. M. Taylor, E. A. Laird, A. Yacoby, M. D. Lukin, C. M. Marcus, M. P. Hanson and A. C. Gossard, *Coherent manipulation of coupled electron spins in semiconductor quantum dots*, Science **309**, 2180 (2005), doi:10.1126/science.1116955.
- [5] K. C. Nowack, F. H. L. Koppens, Yu. V. Nazarov and L. M. K. Vandersypen, Coherent control of a single electron spin with electric fields, Science 318, 1430 (2007), doi:10.1126/science.1148092.
- [6] R. Maurand et al., A CMOS silicon spin qubit, Nat. Commun. 7, 13575 (2016), doi:10.1038/ncomms13575.
- [7] S. Nadj-Perge, S. M. Frolov, E. P. A. M. Bakkers and L. P. Kouwenhoven, *Spin-orbit qubit in a semiconductor nanowire*, Nature **468**, 1084 (2010), doi:10.1038/nature09682.
- [8] K. D. Petersson, L. W. McFaul, M. D. Schroer, M. Jung, J. M. Taylor, A. A. Houck and J. R. Petta, *Circuit quantum electrodynamics with a spin qubit*, Nature 490, 380 (2012), doi:10.1038/nature11559.
- [9] J. W. G. van den Berg, S. Nadj-Perge, V. S. Pribiag, S. R. Plissard, E. P. A. M. Bakkers, S. M. Frolov and L. P. Kouwenhoven, *Fast spin-orbit qubit in an indium antimonide nanowire*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **110**, 066806 (2013), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.110.066806.
- [10] B. M. Maune et al., *Coherent singlet-triplet oscillations in a silicon-based double quantum dot*, Nature **481**, 344 (2012), doi:10.1038/nature10707.
- [11] J. J. Pla, K. Y. Tan, J. P. Dehollain, W. H. Lim, J. J. Morton, D. N. Jamieson, A. S. Dzurak and A. Morello, *A single-atom electron spin qubit in silicon*, Nature **489**, 541 (2012).
- [12] F. N. M. Froning, L. C. Camenzind, O. A. H. van der Molen, A. Li, E. P. A. M. Bakkers, D. M. Zumbühl and F. R. Braakman, *Ultrafast hole spin qubit with gate-tunable spin-orbit switch functionality*, Nat. Nanotechnol. **16**, 308 (2021), doi:10.1038/s41565-020-00828-6.
- [13] N. W. Hendrickx, W. I. L. Lawrie, L. Petit, A. Sammak, G. Scappucci and M. Veldhorst, *A single-hole spin qubit*, Nat. Commun. **11**, 3478 (2020), doi:10.1038/s41467-020-17211-7.
- [14] E. A. Laird, F. Pei and L. P. Kouwenhoven, A valley-spin qubit in a carbon nanotube, Nature Nanotech. 8, 565 (2013), doi:10.1038/nnano.2013.140.
- [15] H. Preier, Recent advances in lead-chalcogenide diode lasers, Appl. Phys. 20, 189 (1979), doi:10.1007/BF00886018.

- [16] S. Young Jang, H. Sung Kim, J. Park, M. Jung, J. Kim, S. Hyun Lee, J. Wook Roh and W. Lee, *Transport properties of single-crystalline n-type semiconducting PbTe nanowires*, Nanotechnology 20, 415204 (2009), doi:10.1088/0957-4484/20/41/415204.
- [17] J. Wook Roh, S. Young Jang, J. Kang, S. Lee, J.-S. Noh, W. Kim, J. Park and W. Lee, *Size-dependent thermal conductivity of individual single-crystalline PbTe nanowires*, Appl. Phys. Lett. **96**, 103101 (2010), doi:10.1063/1.3352049.
- [18] G. Springholz and G. Bauer, *Semiconductors, IV-VI*, John Wiley & Sons, Hobokeh, New Jersey, US, ISBN 9780471346081 (2014).
- [19] K. A. Kolwas, G. Grabecki, S. Trushkin, J. Wróbel, M. Aleszkiewicz, Ł. Cywiński, T. Dietl, G. Springholz and G. Bauer, *Absence of nonlocal resistance in microstructures of PbTe quantum wells*, Phys. Status Solidi B 250, 37 (2012), doi:10.1002/pssb.201248431.
- [20] G. Grabecki, Quantum ballistic phenomena in nanostructures of paraelectric PbTe, J. Appl. Phys. 101, 081722 (2007), doi:10.1063/1.2723179.
- [21] S. Yuan, G. Springholz, G. Bauer and M. Kriechbaum, *Electronic and optical properties of PbTe/Pb<sub>1-x</sub>Eu<sub>x</sub>Te multiple-quantum-well structures*, Phys. Rev. B 49, 5476 (1994), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.49.5476.
- [22] G. Springholz, G. Ihninger, G. Bauer, M. M. Olver, J. Z. Pastalan, S. Romaine and B. B. Goldberg, Modulation doping and observation of the integral quantum Hall effect in  $PbTe/Pb_{1-x}Eu_xTe$  multiquantum wells, Appl. Phys. Lett. **63**, 2908 (1993), doi:10.1063/1.110269.
- [23] G. Grabecki et al., Disorder suppression and precise conductance quantization in constrictions of PbTe quantum wells, Phys. Rev. B 72, 125332 (2005), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.72.125332.
- [24] Q. Yan, H. Chen, W. Zhou, H. Hoon Hng, F. Yin Chiang Boey and J. Ma, A simple chemical approach for PbTe nanowires with enhanced thermoelectric properties, Chem. Mater. 20, 6298 (2008), doi:10.1021/cm802104u.
- [25] G. Tai, W. Guo and Z. Zhang, Hydrothermal synthesis and thermoelectric transport properties of uniform single-crystalline pearl-necklace-shaped pbte nanowires, Cryst. Growth Des.
  8, 2906 (2008), doi:10.1021/cg701262x.
- [26] Q. Yan, H. Chen, W. Zhou, H. Hoon Hng, F. Yin Chiang Boey and J. Ma, A simple chemical approach for PbTe nanowires with enhanced thermoelectric properties, Chem. Mater. 20, 6298 (2008), doi:10.1021/cm802104u.
- [27] P. Dziawa et al., Defect free PbTe nanowires grown by molecular beam epitaxy on GaAs(111)B substrates, Cryst. Growth Des. 10, 109 (2009), doi:10.1021/cg900575r.
- [28] Y. Tanaka, Z. Ren, T. Sato, K. Nakayama, S. Souma, T. Takahashi, K. Segawa and Y. Ando, *Experimental realization of a topological crystalline insulator in SnTe*, Nat. Phys. 8, 800 (2012), doi:10.1038/nphys2442.
- [29] T. H. Hsieh, H. Lin, J. Liu, W. Duan, A. Bansil and L. Fu, *Topological crystalline insulators in the SnTe material class*, Nat. Commun. 3, 982 (2012), doi:10.1038/ncomms1969.
- [30] J. Sadowski, P. Dziawa, A. Kaleta, B. Kurowska, A. Reszka, T. Story and S. Kret, Defectfree SnTe topological crystalline insulator nanowires grown by molecular beam epitaxy on graphene, Nanoscale 10, 20772 (2018), doi:10.1039/C8NR06096G.

- [31] C. J. Trimble et al., Josephson detection of time-reversal symmetry broken superconductivity in SnTe nanowires, npj Quantum Mater. 6, 61 (2021), doi:10.1038/s41535-021-00359w.
- [32] N. Minh Nguyen, W. Brzezicki and T. Hyart, *Corner states, hinge states, and Majorana modes in SnTe nanowires*, Phys. Rev. B **105**, 075310 (2022), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.105.075310.
- [33] M. L. Peres, H. S. Monteiro, V. A. Chitta, S. de Castro, U. A. Mengui, P. H. O. Rappl, N. F. Oliveira, E. Abramof and D. K. Maude, *Experimental investigation of spin-orbit coupling in n-type PbTe quantum wells*, J. Appl. Phys. **115**, 093704 (2014), doi:10.1063/1.4867627.
- [34] W. A. Coish and J. Baugh, Nuclear spins in nanostructures, Phys. Stat. Sol. (b) 246, 2203 (2009), doi:10.1002/pssb.200945229.
- [35] S. M. Frolov, M. J. Manfra and J. D. Sau, *Topological superconductivity in hybrid devices*, Nat. Phys. 16, 718 (2020), doi:10.1038/s41567-020-0925-6.
- [36] S. G. Schellingerhout et al., *Growth of PbTe nanowires by molecular beam epitaxy*, Mater. Quantum. Technol. **2**, 015001 (2022), doi:10.1088/2633-4356/ac4fba.
- [37] R. Hanson, L. P. Kouwenhoven, J. R. Petta, S. Tarucha and L. M. K. Vandersypen, *Spins in few-electron quantum dots*, Rev. Mod. Phys. **79**, 1217 (2007), doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.79.1217.
- [38] J. J. Pla, K. Y. Tan, J. P. Dehollain, W. H. Lim, J. J. L. Morton, D. N. Jamieson, A. S. Dzurak and A. Morello, A single-atom electron spin qubit in silicon, Nature 489, 541 (2012), doi:10.1038/nature11449.
- [39] S. Nadj-Perge, V. S. Pribiag, J. W. G. van den Berg, K. Zuo, S. R. Plissard, E. P. A. M. Bakkers, S. M. Frolov and L. P. Kouwenhoven, Spectroscopy of spin-orbit quantum bits in indium antimonide nanowires, Phys. Rev. Lett. 108, 166801 (2012), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.108.166801.
- [40] H. A. Lyden, Temperature dependence of the effective masses in PbTe, Phys. Rev. 135, A514 (1964), doi:10.1103/PhysRev.135.A514.
- [41] A. De and C. E. Pryor, Calculation of Landé g factors for III-V nanowhisker quantum dots and comparison with experiment, Phys. Rev. B 76, 155321 (2007), doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.76.155321.
- [42] G. Springholtz and G. Bauer, *Wiley Encyclopedia of Electrical and Electronics Engineering* 1 (1999).
- [43] V. S. Pribiag, S. Nadj-Perge, S. M. Frolov, J. W. G. van den Berg, I. van Weperen, S. R. Plissard, E. P. A. M. Bakkers and L. P. Kouwenhoven, *Electrical control of single hole spins in nanowire quantum dots*, Nat. Nanotech. 8, 170 (2013), doi:10.1038/nnano.2013.5.
- [44] T. W. Larsen, K. D. Petersson, F. Kuemmeth, T. S. Jespersen, P. Krogstrup, J. Nygård and C. M. Marcus, *Semiconductor-nanowire-based superconducting qubit*, Phys. Rev. Lett. **115**, 127001 (2015), doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.115.127001.